

**AMENDED BYLAWS OF
THE U.N.M. LOBO CLUB**

**ARTICLE I
NAME AND OFFICES**

1. **Name.** The name of this corporation is the U.N.M. Lobo Club (“the Lobo Club”).
2. **Offices.** The principal office of the Lobo Club will be located in Albuquerque, New Mexico. The Board of Directors may approve chapter organizations whose offices may be located in the locality of the approved chapter.

**ARTICLE II
STATEMENT OF PURPOSE**

1. **Value of Program.** The Lobo Club recognizes the value of a comprehensive and successful athletic program to the University of New Mexico (the University), its students, its student-athletes, its alumni, its friends and the citizens of the State of New Mexico. To that end, the Lobo Club provides financial and administrative support to the University’s athletic program as set forth in these Amended Bylaws.
2. **Financial and Administrative Support.** The Lobo Club may provide the following financial and administrative support to the University: (a) raise funds for student-athlete scholarships; (b) raise funds to assist with upgrades of University athletic facilities and equipment; (c) raise funds for other current and long-term budgetary needs of the Athletics Department; (d) raise funds for the Lobo Club’s own operational expenses, including but not limited to development expenses; (e) raise funds for and administer development expenses for the benefit of the University’s athletic program; (f) raise funds for and administer the Athletics Department’s Sports Enhancement Accounts and the Athletics Director’s Sports Enhancement Account; and (g) provide other financial or administrative services as needed to support the University’s athletic program. In all cases, it is the Lobo Club's intention that its financial support will be used in a manner that will permit the University's athletic programs to compete successfully with those of any other NCAA Division I program.
3. **Athletic Excellence.** The Lobo Club will carry out its mission in a spirit of cooperation with the University, its Athletics Department and the University of New Mexico Foundation, Inc. in an effort to achieve the goal of athletic program excellence.

4. **Program Compliance.** The Lobo Club will recognize and comply with all NCAA and conference rules and regulations concerning booster clubs.
5. **Agreements.** The Lobo Club may, at any time, enter into agreements with the University or other entities according to University policy. [See NMSA § 6-5A-1 attached]

ARTICLE III ACTIVITIES

1. **Lobo Club Agreements.** The Lobo Club and its Board of Directors will operate according to its Articles of Incorporation filed September 23, 1968 and Bylaws, as amended and any Memorandums of Agreement to which the Lobo Club is a party. Furthermore, the Lobo Club agrees to operate in such a manner that will retain the Lobo Club's status as a nonprofit, tax-exempt organization pursuant to Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, or any successor statute.
2. **Fundraising.** The Lobo Club will provide solicitation, consultation, and other related services to the Athletics Department for the benefit of the UNM athletic program to maximize private gifts and donations from various sources. To that end, the Lobo Club shall plan, direct, coordinate, and conduct activities for raising funds from private sources, including: (i) fund drive programs, (ii) special events, and (iii) any other programs initiated by the Vice President for Athletics/Director of Athletics or Lobo Club Board of Directors.
 - a. The activities of the Lobo Club will be conducted for the benefit of the University's athletic program and will be consistent with the University's plans, programs and policies. The Lobo Club will coordinate goals, programs, and major activities with the Athletics Department and the University of New Mexico Foundation, Inc. The Lobo Club will not solicit or accept gifts, grants, conveyances, devices, bequests, or otherwise from any source for a use specified by the donor inconsistent with goals and policies of the Athletics Department, the University of New Mexico, the University of New Mexico Foundation, Inc. or with the rules and regulations of the NCAA and any conference with which the University may affiliate.
 - b. The Lobo Club will maintain policies and procedures for the review and acceptance of gifts and donations. The acceptance of any gift or donation that requires a matching obligation of the University of New Mexico or the University of New Mexico Foundation, Inc. or creates a future obligation of the University of New Mexico or the University of New Mexico Foundation Inc. resources must first be approved by the University of New Mexico or the University of New Mexico Foundation, Inc.

- c. The Lobo Club will maintain a record of all gifts and donations received by the Lobo Club, and make such records available to the University of New Mexico Foundation, Inc. for its donor record keeping responsibilities.
 - d. The Lobo Club will not engage in any instructional, research, or public service activity sponsored, or participated in, by a University of New Mexico department, without the prior approval of the President of the University of New Mexico.
3. **Management of Gifts and Donations.** The Lobo Club will manage contributed funds, using funds as necessary in order to generate contributions to University of New Mexico Athletics. All funds contributed for the Athletics Department, whether through the Lobo Club or University of New Mexico Foundation, Inc., are for the benefit of University of New Mexico athletic programs. The Lobo Club will deposit all funds received in operating accounts as determined by the Board of Directors or in agency accounts established by the University of New Mexico for the Lobo Club. The Lobo Club is responsible for the oversight of such accounts. Checks will require one board signature and one staff signature as designated below. Board signatories include the Lobo Club President, President-Elect, and Vice-President of Finance. Staff signatories include the Executive Director and any other individuals approved by the Lobo Club Executive Committee.
- a. Disposal of gifts received by the Lobo Club in the form of real or personal property, may be accomplished by the Lobo Club after consultation with the University of New Mexico or the University of New Mexico Foundation, Inc. If the gift is income-producing property, the Lobo Club shall transfer the property to the University of New Mexico Foundation, Inc. to be held by the University of New Mexico Foundation, Inc. to accomplish the donor's gift objective; or, if permitted by the terms of the gift or bequest, the Lobo Club may dispose of the property and establish an endowment in the University of New Mexico Foundation, Inc. to be used as specified by the donor.
 - b. The Lobo Club will transfer all gifts to establish endowments for the benefit of UNM Athletics to the University of New Mexico Foundation, Inc. Such gifts will be invested in the Regent's Consolidated Investment Fund in accordance with the Board of Regents Investment Management Policy. Disbursement of income from such gifts and endowments shall be made in accordance with the requests of the donor and monitored by the Lobo Club.
4. **Management and Distribution of Funds.** The Lobo Club will, in consultation with the University, establish a schedule for transferring funds received by the Lobo Club from its own accounts or its agency accounts to the University.

- a. The Lobo Club will provide the Athletics Department with an annual budget, including anticipated projects, transfer of funds to support the athletic programs, and anticipated reasonable operating expenses.
- b. The Lobo Club will not disburse funds to any unit of the Athletics Department either in the form of compensation or gratuity to a University or University of New Mexico Foundation, Inc. employee, coach, or athlete, except as defined by the employee's contract.
- c. The Lobo Club may raise, retain, administer and disburse funds for student-athlete scholarships; to assist with upgrades of University athletic facilities and equipment; for other current and long-term budgetary needs of the Athletics Department; for the Lobo Club's own operational expenses, including but not limited to development expenses; and for development expenses for the benefit of the University's athletic program.
- d. The Lobo Club may raise, retain, administer and disburse funds for the Athletics Department's Sports Enhancement Accounts and the Athletics Director's Sports Enhancement Account in accordance with its agreement(s) with the University.
- e. All funds or property transferred to the Athletics Department by the Lobo Club will be subject to all state laws and regulations governing the disbursement and administration of public funds and public property, except to the extent of any specific conditions of the transfer that are acceptable to the University of New Mexico and do not require actions that are punishable as crimes under state law.

ARTICLE IV MEMBERSHIP

1. **Eligibility.** Any person who contributes or pledges annually at least the minimum contribution amount ("the contribution amount") as determined by the Board of Directors to the Lobo Club may be a member of the Lobo Club. A corporate member will designate one individual as its voting member. Each new member will be known as a "Lobo Club Member." In addition, Honorary Lifetime Board Members, as defined in Article V, §3, are members.
2. **Membership Levels.** The Board of Directors may establish Levels of Membership with each level requiring a minimum contribution amount.

3. **Collection.** The Executive Director is charged with the collection of all contribution amounts. Members must pay contribution amounts by the date set each year by the Executive Committee unless automated payment arrangements, i.e. monthly payments, payroll deductions, regular credit card charges, etc., that will fulfill the pledge by the conclusion of the fiscal year have been pre-arranged.
4. **Unpaid Contribution Amount.** Any member whose account is unpaid for any year will be denied benefits for any subsequent year until all past due accounts are paid in full or otherwise approved by the Executive Director.
5. **Expulsion.** Any member found to have disrupted any function sponsored by the Lobo Club, harassed any Lobo Club officer, Director or employee, found to have violated NCAA rules or conference rules, or subjected the University or the Lobo Club to public ridicule, contempt, or loss of its good reputation, after a reasonable opportunity to appear before the Board of Directors in his or her own behalf, may, at the discretion of the Board of Directors, be expelled from membership. Such member will be afforded the opportunity to appear, and respond to the charges, at the meeting at which the Board of Directors is addressing whether to expel such member. The member may be represented at such meeting. Upon such action by the Board of Directors, the President shall notify the member in writing of its action and shall not permit such person to become a member thereafter except upon a subsequent decision of the Board of Directors.
6. **Loss of Rights.** Membership ceases at the end of the fiscal year in which a member dies. Any member whose membership in the Lobo Club has ceased or terminated for any reason whatsoever shall forfeit all rights to the use of the Lobo Club's name and to participate in any activity of the Lobo Club to which only members of the Lobo Club or their guests are invited.
7. **Annual Meeting.** The Annual Meeting of the Lobo Club will be held during the months of May or June of each year as determined by the Board of Directors for the purpose of electing Directors and transacting such other business as may properly come before the meeting.
8. **Special Meetings.** Special meetings of the members may be called at any time by the President, or by a majority of the Board of Directors; and shall be called by the President at the written request of 10 percent of the members in good standing as of July 1 of the current fiscal year.
9. **Notice of Meetings.** Written notice of each meeting of the membership, whether annual or special, stating the time, date and place where it is to be held, shall be sent to each member at least ten (10) days prior to such meeting. Notice of a special meeting shall also state the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called. A

special meeting shall be limited to the agenda specified in the notice. Any notice required by this section may be sent by email, regular mail, fax, or by hand delivery.

10. **Quorum and Voting.** At least fifteen members in good standing in attendance shall constitute a quorum at any annual or special membership meeting. Unless otherwise provided by law, the Articles of Incorporation or the Bylaws, actions of the members will be taken by majority vote.
11. **Chapter Organizations.** The Board of Directors, at its discretion, may approve chapter organizations for the Lobo Club, to improve fundraising efforts and encourage participation in the Lobo Club. Each chapter must abide by the Chapter Manual approved by the Board of Directors. The Executive Committee will review chapter organizations annually to verify and validate that these criteria have been met.

ARTICLE V BOARD OF DIRECTORS

1. **Management & Authority.** The Board of Directors shall be responsible for the control and management of the affairs, activities, property and interests of the Lobo Club. It shall set policy for those purposes through the use of customary resolutions and actions by the Board.
2. **Number.** The Board of Directors shall consist of no more than forty (40) members, not including Chapter Presidents who qualify in (7) below, Past Presidents who qualify in (8) below, and Honorary Lifetime Members who qualify in (9) below.
 - a. The following will be voting members:
 - (1) At least eighteen (18), but not more than twenty-four (24), will be elected for two-year terms by the Lobo Club membership;
 - (2) No more than three (3) members will be appointed by the President of the Lobo Club, each of whom shall serve a one-year term;
 - (3) No more than ten (10) members will be appointed by the Vice President for Athletics/Director of Athletics, who shall serve a one-year, renewable term. The Vice President for Athletics/Director of Athletics shall appoint, or renew, such members based on the member's financial sponsorship of University athletic events;
 - (4) One (1) member of the annual membership drive to be determined by the Board of Directors at the conclusion of the drive corresponding to the year in which he/she will serve, and who will serve for one year from the conclusion of the drive to the conclusion of the following fiscal year;
 - (5) The Vice President of Athletics/Director of Athletics;
 - (6) The President of the UNM Alumni Lettermen's Association;

- (7) Chapter Presidents, or their appointees from those chapters;
 - (8) Past Presidents of the Lobo Club;
 - (9) Honorary Lifetime Board Members.
- b. In addition, the Executive Director of the Lobo Club shall serve as a non-voting member of the Board of Directors.
 - c. The Lobo Club will always maintain a membership on its Board of Directors such that no more than 15 percent of the voting members are employees, officers, or Regents of the University or entities controlled by the University.
 - d. All elected Directors and Presidential Appointees must be members of the Lobo Club who agree to contribute a minimum of \$1,000 annually or agree to raise \$5,000 (new money), including special events, annually.
 - e. Beginning with the 2014-2015 year, no Board Member may serve for more than six (6) consecutive years. In special circumstances, a Board Member may serve two (2) additional years with approval from the Board.
- 3. **Honorary Lifetime Board Members.** The membership may elect every fifth (5th) year beginning with the election of the 2014-2015 Board of Directors, upon nomination by the Board of Directors, one (1) Honorary Lifetime Member of the Board of Directors who shall serve until his or her death or resignation. Honorary Lifetime Board Members will be voting Directors and will be deemed to be members of the Lobo Club in good standing whether or not they shall pay dues.
 - 4. **Attendance at meetings.** The Executive Committee at its discretion, may remove a Board Member who has three or more absences from board meetings during the fiscal year. The Board Member will have the opportunity to come before the Executive Committee to discuss his or her absences.
 - 5. **Annual Meeting.** The annual meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held immediately following the annual meeting of the membership at the place of such annual meeting of the membership for the purpose of electing officers and transacting such other business as may properly come before the Board of Directors.
 - 6. **Regular Monthly Meetings.** The Board of Directors shall meet no less than six (6) times during the fiscal year on a regular day to be fixed at its annual meeting or as soon thereafter as possible.

7. **Special Meetings.** Special Meeting of the Board of Directors may be called at any time by the President, or upon written call of any ten (10) members of the Board of Directors sent to the Secretary and the Executive Director.
8. **Notice of Meetings.** Notice of the annual or any regular meeting of the Board of Directors will not be required and, if given, need not specify the purpose of the meeting, provided; however, in case the Board of Directors changes the time or place of the annual or any regular meeting, notice of such action shall be given to each Director who was not present at the meeting at which such action was taken. Notice may be sent by email, regular mail, fax, or hand-delivered to each Director, addressed to him or her at his or her residence, last known email address or usual place of business, at least two (2) days before the day on which the meeting is to be held. A notice or waiver of notice need not specify the purpose for the meeting.
9. **Quorum and Voting:** At all meetings of the Board of Directors, the presence of forty percent (40%) of the voting Board Members, excluding Past Presidents and Honorary Lifetime Board Members, constitutes a quorum for the transaction of business. Unless otherwise provided by law, the Articles of Incorporation or the Bylaws, actions of the Board of Directors shall be taken by majority vote.
10. **Vacancies.** Any vacancy on the Board of Directors, except in the case of an Honorary Lifetime Member, occurring by any reason whatsoever, may be filled upon recommendation of the Executive Committee for the unexpired portion by a majority vote of the remaining Directors at any regular meeting or at a special meeting of the Board of Directors called for that purpose.
11. **Removal.** Any Director may be removed for cause by a vote of the majority of the Board of Directors. The Director to be removed shall be afforded the opportunity to appear at such meeting for the purpose of responding to the charges. The Director may be represented at such meeting.

ARTICLE VI OFFICERS

1. **Number of Officers.** The officers of the Lobo Club are the President, President-Elect, Immediate Past-President, five (5) Vice-Presidents, and Secretary, which shall be selected from the Board of Directors. All officers shall be members of the Board of Directors.
2. **Duties of Officers.** The officers shall perform the following duties and all other duties as assigned by the President or Board of Directors.

- a. **President.** The President shall preside at all meetings of the membership and of the Board of Directors; shall be an ex-officio member of all committees except the Nominating Committee; generally exercise supervision of the affairs of the Lobo Club, and perform such other duties as are ordinarily exercised by a person holding that office, subject to the direction of the Board of Directors. To be elected President, one must serve a minimum of two years on the Executive Committee, one year of which shall be as Vice President of Finance.
 - b. **President-Elect.** The President-Elect shall assist the President and shall perform the duties of the President in the absence of the President. In the event the President cannot complete his or her term of office for whatever reason, the President-Elect will assume the office of President for the balance of that term and will continue to serve as President for the term for which he or she was elected.
 - c. **Immediate Past-President.** The Immediate Past-President shall perform such duties as are delegated to him/her by the President or the Board of Directors.
 - d. **Vice-Presidents.** The five (5) Vice-Presidents shall each have a portfolio of responsibilities to ensure attainment of the goals of the Lobo Club. In the absence of both the President and President-Elect, one of the Vice-Presidents shall be selected by the Board of Directors to act as President.
 - e. **Secretary.** The Secretary shall perform such duties as required by law or delegated to him/her by the President or Board of Directors.
3. **Vacancies.** In the event that any office other than that of the President becomes vacant for any reason whatsoever, the Board of Directors shall forthwith appoint a member of the Lobo Club to fill the unexpired term of office in which the vacancy exists. Such election shall not disqualify a person elected for such office from election upon the expiration thereof to a full elective term as an officer.
 4. **Term.** Officers shall assume their respective offices on the first date of the fiscal year following their election, and their terms of office will expire on the succeeding final day of the fiscal year.

ARTICLE VII EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Executive Director. The Executive Director shall be the chief administrative officer of the Lobo Club.

ARTICLE VIII

ELECTION PROCEDURE

1. **Nominating Committee.** The Nominating Committee shall select at least one (1) nominee for each office and expiring directorship, except for the office of President, which will be automatically filled by the incumbent President-Elect. Such nominations, in writing, shall be in the hands of the President no later than May 1 of each year.
2. **Notice of Nominations.** Upon receipt of the report from the Nominating Committee, the Executive Director shall, within fifteen (15) days, deliver by email or regular mail, to each member a notice setting forth the nominations of the Nominating Committee for the expiring directorships, in alphabetical order, and stating the date of the meeting at which the election shall be conducted. This election shall take place at the annual meeting of the Lobo Club, to be conducted during May or June of that fiscal year.
3. **Other Nominees.** Other Lobo Club members in good standing may be nominated for a directorship by two percent (2%) or more members in good standing if a written notice of such person's nomination, together with a consent of such person to serve, is received by the Lobo Club not later than fifteen (15) days after the notice of the nominations of the Nominating Committee shall have been delivered by email or regular mail to Lobo Club members. Each notice shall set forth the name and address on file with the Lobo Club of each nominee proposed in such notice.
4. **Election of Directors.** Members of the Board of Directors shall be elected by the members in attendance at the annual meeting of the Lobo Club. If the number of nominees exceed the number of positions available on the Board of Directors, the highest vote getters shall be elected as Directors. Voting shall be by members in attendance only. Members may not vote by proxy.
5. **Eligibility to Vote.** Only members in good standing are eligible to vote.
6. **Election of Officers.** Immediately after the annual meeting of the Lobo Club, the Board of Directors shall convene for the election of officers for the coming year. Separate balloting shall be conducted for each elective office, except where there is only one nominee for an office, in which case the President shall request a unanimous vote for such nominee. In any contested election, a plurality of votes cast shall be required to elect. Voting shall be by Directors in attendance only. Directors may not vote by proxy.
7. **Succession of President.** A President of the Lobo Club who has served a full term as President shall not be eligible to succeed himself or herself, but may be elected as President-Elect after serving one (1) year as Past-President.

8. **Term of Office.** All Directors shall assume their elected offices on the first day of the fiscal year immediately following their election for a two-year term ending the final day of the second fiscal year of their appointment. All officers shall assume their respective offices on the first date of the fiscal year immediately following their election for a one-year term ending on the succeeding final day of the fiscal year.

ARTICLE IX FISCAL YEAR/BONDS/REPORTS AND ACCOUNTING

1. **Fiscal Year.** The fiscal year of the Lobo Club shall be from July 1 of each year to the succeeding June 30.
2. **Reports and Accounting.** The Lobo Club shall submit to an annual audit conducted by an independent certified public accounting firm performed in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards.
 - a. The Lobo Club shall provide the University with the report of an annual audit performed by an independent certified public accounting firm selected by the University. This audit shall be in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. The working papers associated with the Lobo Club's audit shall be maintained and be available to the University for three (3) years after the audit report date.
 - b. The Lobo Club agrees to provide any information regarding the financial operations of the Lobo Club to the University's internal audit staff upon a formal request to the Lobo Club's Executive Committee.

ARTICLE X INSURANCE

The Lobo Club shall at all times maintain adequate insurance coverage for all property held and managed by the Lobo Club for the University, and maintain appropriate liability insurance for its officers and directors, either through coverage by the State's Risk Management insurance program or by separately acquired coverage.

ARTICLE XI COMMITTEES

1. **Executive Committee.**

- a. **Membership.** There shall be an Executive Committee consisting of the President, President-Elect, Past-President, five (5) Vice-Presidents, Secretary, and the Vice-President of Athletics and the Executive Director, both of whom shall be ex-officio non-voting members. Regarding the Vice-Presidents, there will be a Vice-President of Finance, who will also serve as Treasurer, and four (4) Vice-Presidents whose duties shall be established by the President and Executive Committee of the Lobo Club.
- b. **Purpose.** The Executive Committee shall meet at the call of the President to review such matters of the Lobo Club as he or she may direct to be brought before it or as specifically directed by the Board of Directors. Any action voted on by the Executive Committee shall be reported to the full Board of Directors at the next regularly scheduled meeting for the Board's ratification.
- c. **Meetings.** Meetings of the Executive Committee shall be held monthly at such time and place as prescribed by the President or a majority of the Executive Committee. Notice by mail, or email, of each meeting of the Executive Committee shall be given not less than forty-eight (48) hours in advance of the meeting by the Executive Director or the President. The required forty-eight (48) hours advance notice may be waived with the consent of the majority of the members of the Executive Committee.
- d. **Minutes.** Minutes of each meeting of the Executive Committee will be maintained by the Secretary and approved by the Executive Committee.
- e. **Quorum.** A majority of the Executive Committee membership shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of all business. The affirmative vote of a majority of those members present shall be required to transact business.

2. **Finance Committee.**

- a. **Membership.** The Finance Committee shall consist of the Vice-President of Finance, the President-Elect and not less than two (2) nor more than four (4) additional members appointed by the President and the Vice-President of Finance. In addition, the University of New Mexico Treasurer and the University of New Mexico Foundation, Inc. President and Chief Executive Officer shall each be requested to appoint an individual to sit as an ex-officio non-voting member of the Finance Committee.
- b. **Purpose.** The purpose of the Finance Committee will be to develop, review and coordinate all financial documents, and to assure that the financial matters of the Lobo Club are properly recorded and financial statements are accurately and

timely prepared. The Finance Committee shall prepare and present an annual budget to the Executive Committee for approval and ratification by the Board.

- c. **Meetings.** Meetings of the Finance Committee shall be held monthly at such time and place as prescribed by the Vice-President of Finance. Notice by email or regular mail of each meeting of the Finance Committee shall be given not less than forty-eight (48) hours in advance of the meeting by the Vice-President of Finance. The required forty-eight (48) hours advance notice may be waived with the consent of the majority of the members of the Finance Committee.
- d. **Minutes.** Minutes of each meeting of the Finance Committee shall be maintained by the Vice-President of Finance, approved by the Finance Committee and shall be presented to the Board of Directors.
- e. **Quorum.** A simple majority of the Finance Committee membership shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of all business. The affirmative vote of a majority of those members present shall be required to transact business.

3. **Nominating Committee.**

- a. **Membership.** The Nominating Committee shall consist of not less than five (5) nor more than seven (7) members. Not later than March 1 of each year, the President-Elect shall, with the approval of the Board of Directors, appoint a Nominating Committee of not less than five (5) nor more than seven (7) members. The President will not be a member of this committee. The President-Elect shall serve as chairperson. If he or she is unwilling or unable to so serve, the Board shall select the chairperson. The President-Elect shall serve as chairperson.
- b. **Purpose.** The purpose of the Nominating Committee shall be to select a qualified slate of nominees to fill the expired terms for officers and Directors as outlined in Article VIII.
- c. **Meetings.** The Nominating Committee shall meet per the requirements of Article VIII.
- d. **Quorum.** A simple majority of the Nominating Committee membership shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of all business. The affirmative vote of a majority of those members present shall be required to transact business.

4. **Ex-Officio Committees - President.** The President of the Lobo Club will be an ex-officio non-voting member of all committees established, except for the Nominating Committee.

5. **Additional Committees.** The President may from time to time designate such other committees as may be necessary to manage the affairs, activities, property and interests of the Lobo Club. Such committees shall consist of two or more members of the Board of Directors. The President may also appoint to a committee individuals who are not members of the Board of Directors. Those individuals will be non-voting members.

ARTICLE XII INDEMNIFICATION

The Lobo Club shall, to the extent legally permissible, defend and indemnify each person who may serve or who has served at any time as an officer, Director, or employee of the Lobo Club, including the Executive Director, against all expenses and liabilities, including, without limitation, counsel fees, judgments, fines, excise taxes, penalties and settlement payments, reasonably incurred by or imposed upon such person in connection with any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding in which he or she may become involved by reason of his or her service in such capacity; provided that no indemnification shall be provided for any such person with respect to any matter as to which he or she shall have been finally adjudicated in any proceeding not to have acted in good faith in the reasonable belief that such action was in the best interests of the Corporation; and further provided that any compromise or settlement payment shall be approved by a majority vote of a quorum of Directors who are not at that time parties to the proceeding.

ARTICLE XIII DISSOLUTION

The Lobo Club may use its earnings and funds only to accomplish the objective and purposes of the Lobo Club, and no part of said monies shall inure or be distributed to the members of the Lobo Club. If for any reason the Memorandum of Agreement between the University, the University of New Mexico Foundation, Inc. and the Lobo Club is terminated, all accounts of the Lobo Club in the University's custody shall be transferred to the University or a successor organization. Upon dissolution of the Lobo Club, its net assets shall be distributed to the University or a successor organization.

**ARTICLE XIV
PARLIAMENTARY RULES**

All meetings of the Lobo Club, Board of Directors and committees shall be governed by and conducted in accordance with the latest edition of Robert's Rules of Order.

**ARTICLE XV
AMENDMENT**

These Bylaws may be amended by a two thirds (2/3) vote of the members present at any membership meeting, provided however, that notice of the proposed amendment, the place, time and date of such meeting shall have been given to the members at least two (2) weeks prior thereto. Notice may be delivered by email, regular mail or fax. It is mutually understood and agreed any alteration or variation of the terms of the Lobo Club's Articles of Incorporation or the Bylaws of the Lobo Club shall be submitted for approval to the Board of Regents of the University.

_____, President Date
UNM LOBO CLUB

_____, Secretary Date
UNM LOBO CLUB